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Affidavit of Louis W. Alexander, Assistant Director of
Division of Transportation of State Board of Education

(Referred to in Foregoing Tender of Evidence)

Louts W. ALEXANDER, being duly sworn, deposes and says
that:

1. T am Assistant Director of the Division of Transpor-
tation of the North Carolina State Board of Education, a
position which I have held for the past three years. For
the preceeding fifteen years, I was School Bus Route Super-
visor for the Western Area of North Carolina (which in-
cluded Mecklenburg County) and as such was responsible
to the Division of Transportation of the North Carolina
State Board of Eduecation.

2. In the performance of the duties and responsibilities
of my present position, I am familiar with school bus trans-
portation systems throughout the state, with the procure-
ment and operation of school buses and other facilities,
with bus routes and schedules, with state laws concerning
transportation of school children, safety requirements and
standards, and with the various other things that relate to
the transportation of school children in North Carolina.

3. I have carefully analyzed the affidavit of J. D. Mor-
gan, Assistant Superintendent for Business Services of
the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools (dated February
13, 1970) and the facts and information set forth therein.
I have personally conferred with Mr. Morgan and members
of his staff regarding the Pupil Assignment Plans referred
to in his affidavit—particularly as they affect the trans-
portation of school children, bus roufes and schedules,
transportation costs, availability of facilities and the many
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Affidovit of Louis W. Alexander, Assistant Director of
Division of Transportation of State Board of Education

other facets involved in the movement of a great number
of children in the Charlotte-Mecklenburg School System. I
have examined the maps showing the assignment proposals
under the Board Plan and the Finger Plan and all locations
of the schools with particular attention to the transporta-
tion that would be required to implement either of these
plans.

4. Based upon my experience with school transportation
systems in this state (particularly Mecklenburg County)
in my judgment, the statements made by Mr. Morgan in
his affidavit are sound and well considered. In making my
evaluation of these facts and statements, I have, of course,
relied upon the data and information furnished me regard-
ing the number of additional children to be transported
and the school bus routes to implement either of the two
plans. However, I received from Mr. Morgan and his staff,
a detailed explanation of the basis upon which the data and
information set forth in his affidavit were computed and
the many factors which were taken into account. Mr. Mor-
gan’s statements regarding the number of buses and other
facilities that are required, the length and time of bus
routes, the capital and operating expenses, the utilization
of equipment, safety factors and other related matters are
well in line with what I would expect.

5. In my opinion, the addition of any significant number
of buses (irrespective of which plan is used) would create
an intolerable situation not only for the Charlotte-Mecklen-
burg Schools but the public as well. In the operation of
any school bus program, the safety and well-being of the
children are our primary concerns. Even if the buses and
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Affidavit of Lowis W. Alexander, Assistant Director of
Division of Transportation of State Board of Education

drivers were available, the busing of children into and out
of the center of the city along streets and highways already
jammed with heavily congested traffic is unwise and unsafe.
This is true whether student or adult drivers are used. I
would particularly emphasize the difficulties and hazards
involved where there are insufficient or inadequate bus
parking and other loading and unloading facilities.

Lours W. ALEXANDER

6. The above observations were made upon the request
of Mr, J. D. Morgan, Assistant Superintendent and Mr.
Benjamin S. Horack, Board Attorney.

Louis W. Alexander

(Sworn to February 17, 1970)
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Affidavit of Herman J. Hoose, Director of Traffic
Engineering for the City of Charlotte, North Carolina

(Referred to in Foregoing Tender of Evidence)

Hermax J. Hoose, being duly sworn, deposes and says
that:

1. T am now, and have been for the past 22 years, Di-
rector of Traffic Engineering for the City of Charlotte. I
am charged with primary responsibility for all matters re-
lating to traffic on city streets and thoroughfares. By
reason of my position, I also thoroughly familiar with
matters relating to traffic in the portions of Mecklenburg
County located outside the city limits. The direction and
control of inner city traffic must be and is carefully co-
ordinated with that of the outlying areas.

2. I have carefully reviewed with Mr. J. D. Morgan,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Services of the
Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools, his affidavit (dated
February 13, 1970) relating to the transportation require-
ments of the Board Plan and the Court approved Finger
Plan referred to in that affidavit—particularly as they
would affect traffic patterns, facilities and safety within
the City of Charlotte.

3. The peak traffic rush hours in Charlotte are from 7:30
to 9:30 in the morning and from 4:30 to 6:30 in the evening.
As is true with most other cities, the control and movement
of vehicular traffic along our already over burdened streets
and thoroughfares constitutes one of our most critical
problems.

4. The main traffic arteries in the city (as well as those
in the perimeter) are already jammed almost to the break-
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Affidavit of Herman J. Hoose, Director of Traffic
Engineering for the City of Charlotte, North Carolina

ing point. Consistent with vehicular and pedestrian safety
(which, of course, must be our primary concern), it is the
objective of my Department to devise traffic patterns and
controls that will expedite the orderly movement and flow
of traffic within the city. The addition of a large number
of school buses to the congested inner city thoroughfares
would oceasion serious problems—both from the standpoint
of traffic movement and safety.

5. By State law a loaded school bus cannot be operated
on a public street or road at a speed in excess of 35 miles
per hour. Many of our inner city traffic arteries prescribe
a 40 or 45 mile maximum in order to speed up the movement
of traffic. The cross-bussing and satellite bussing required
of the Court’s Finger Plan will necessarily require the
school buses to use these thoroughfares. This would make
a shambles out of our city traffic—particularly during the
morning rush hours and, if staggered school schedules in-
volve bussing after 4:30 p.m., during the evening rush hour
as well. We have some expressways in the city that pre-
scribe maximum speeds of 55 or 60 miles per hour. In my
judgment it would be completely impractical to expect to
allow school buses to use these expressways. Under State
law traffic must stop while a school bus is loading or un-
loading children. To the extent that pickup and discharge
points are located on public streets and roads, the move-
ment of traffic would come to a complete standstill. This
will create an intolerable situation. Stop-and-go traffic of
slow moving school buses in congested traffic would con-
stitute a real danger for both the school buses and other
traffic. From a safety standpoint, children will be particu-
larly vulnerable at the points where they are picked up and
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Engineering for the City of Charlotte, North Carolina

dropped off by school buses. This hazard can be minimized
to the extent that school buses load and unload children on
school grounds or other off street locations. However, it is
anticipated that many of the pickup and dropoff points
would be on streets which children reach only by crossing
busy streets and intersections and where children will con-
gregate to board or get off the school buses.

6. Of special concern to my Department would be the
problems caused by the entry of loaded school buses into
the main traffic arteries from secondary and residential
streets—particularly during rush hour traffic. Police or
traffic controls (which frequently would not otherwise be
needed) would be required at these intersections to reduce
the hazards occasioned by the entry of the buses into the
mainstream of traffic. This in turn will further slow down
traffic and clog the already over burdened thoroughfares
of the city. Similar problems will exist where loaded school
buses enter and leave bus parking areas.

7. It is anticipated that the difficulties involved in the
movement of large numbers of children within the city by
bus will be further compounded by the increased conges-
tion that will result on bad weather days when parents will
forego the use of school buses and will drive their children
to school in the morning and pick them up at school in the
afternoon.

8. Traffic safety and control will be seriously impaired
by any program of mass bussing of school children within
the City of Charlotte. Substantially similar problems would
be encountered outside the city—although perhaps not as
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acute where the buses are able to use secondary roads that
run through the less densely populated areas of the county.
The Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools already operate
a large bus fleet to provide the transportation that the State
law requires. This existing bussing occasions many prob-
lems—which should not be unnecessarily aggravated by ad-
ditional movement of a large number of children as will
be required to implement the plans referred to in Mr. Mor-
gan’s affidavit.

/s/ Herman J. Hoosk
Herman J. Hoose

(Sworn to February 24, 1970)
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Affidavit of Robert L. Deaton, Assistant General
Manager of Charlotte City Coach Lines, Inec.

(Referred to in Foregoing Tender of Kvidence)

Roserr L. DEaTow, being first duly sworn, says that:

1. T am the Assistant General Manager and an officer
of Charlotte City Coach Lines, Inc., which operates the
public transit system in the City of Charlotte. We operate
under an exclusive franchise granted by the City of
Charlotte which permits us to furnish our regular service
within the City and the two mile perimeter beyond the
city limits. We also hold a Certificate issued by the North
Carolina Utilities Commission which permits us to operate
a charter or contract service anywhere in Mecklenburg
County.

2. At present Charlotte City Coach Lines has a fleet
of 128 busses. 114 of the busses are required to furnish
the normal transportation needs of the public. Of the
remaining 14 busses, 2 are already under contract com-
mitments and 7 more must be kept in reserve as replace-
ment spares when busses used for our regular service
break down or are in need of repairs. We should keep
at least 10% of our fleet available for replacement spares.
Therefore, a replacement reserve of only 7 busses is sub-
stantially less than what we normally consider to be our
minimum needs in this respeet. With our present fleet,
5 busses are the maximum that we could make available
on a contract basis to provide transportation for school
children. The largest bus in our fleet has a seating capacity
for 53 adults. By utilizing standing room in the aisles, we
anticipate that each of the busses could transport 65 school
children or a total of 325 for the 5 busses that would be
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available. Some additional children could be transported
by the use of these busses if the opening and closing hours
of the various schools are staggered so that we can make
greater use of our equipment by permitting one bus to
serve more than one school.

3. The busses we have in our fleet cost approximately
$38,000 to $39,000 each. It is not economically feasible
for us to expand our fleet by the addition of more busses
for the sole purpose of providing transportation for school
children in the mornings and afternoons of school days.
Further, it takes some 8 to 10 months to obtain delivery
of a new bus. Nor is it economically feasible for us to
supplement our fleet by the acquisition of used busses, since
our experience indicates that the maintenance cost of such
busses is prohibitive.

4. We would be willing to negotiate with the Charlotte-
Mecklenburg Schools on a contract basis for the use of
these 5 available busses to transport school children. As
fixed by the North Carolina Utilities Commission, our
normal contract rate per bus is $18.00 per hour (or
fraction) for the first hour and $10.00 for each additional
hour (or fraction). Our hourly rates are charged from the
time a bus leaves its garage until it returns. Although
we do not now know the specifics of the proposed school
routes which might be served by our busses on a contract
basis, we anticipate that the time of a morning or after-
noon run would be about 30 minutes for the short urban
routes and 1 hour and 15 minutes or more for the longer
routes out in the County. We might be able to negotiate
some reductions in our normal contract rates. However,
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we will be unable to do so until we know what the routes
and schedules will be and anticipate that (after we are
advised of the children to be transported) we will need
about 3 weeks to analyze the routes before coming up with
a rate proposal. Any contract rates which may be nego-
tiated with the Schools must be approved by the North
Carolina Utilities Commission.

/s/ RoserT L. DEratonN
Robert L. Deaton

(Sworn to February 10, 1970.)



901a

Order
(Filed February 25, 1970)

Upon motion duly made, It 1s Heresy OrpErED that the
following persons and organizations described in the peti-
tion of the plaintiffs as additional parties-defendant be,
and they are hereby made parties herein:

Hoxorasre Rosert W. Scort, Governor of the State
of North Carolina

HoworasLe A. C. Davts, Controller of the State De-
partment of Public Instruction

HoxorapLe WiLLiam K. McLean, Judge of the Su-
perior Court of North Carolina

Tom B. Harris, Charlotte, North Carolina

G. Do~ Roserson, Charlotte, North Carolina

A. Breece Breranp, Charlotte, North Carolina

James M. Posteus, Charlotte, North Carolina

Wiriam E. Rorie, Jr., Charlotte, North Carolina

Cuaumers R. Cagrgr, Charlotte, North Carolina

Rosert T. WiLson, Charlotte, North Carolina

CoNcERNED PARENTS ASSOCIATION, an unincorporated
association in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

James H. Cagsoxn, Jr., Attorney, Charlotte, North
Carolina

WirLiam H. Boog, Attorney, Charlotte, North Caro-
lina

It is directed that service of the following documents be
made immediately by certified mail, return receipt re-
quested, upon the additional parties hereby made:

1. MorioN To ADD ADDITIONAL PARTIES DEFENDANT AND
ror Furraer Rewner, with attached Points or Av-
rHORITY, served by plaintiffs on February 13, 1970.
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2. NorrricaTion aAND REQuesT FOR DEsieNATION oF THREE-
Jupece Courrt, dated February 19, 1970, including ex-
hibits referred to therein, as follows:

Exhibit A—Opinton axp Orper filed December 1,
1969.

Exhibit B—OzrpEr filed February 5, 1970.
Exhibit C—Orpzr filed December 2, 1969.

Exhibit D—Complaint, amended complaint and two
orders entered by Judge William K. McLean on
February 12, 1970, in suit pending in the General
Court of Justice, Superior Court Division, Meck-
lenburg County, North Carolina, bearing No. 70-
CVS-1097.

Exhibit E—Statement made by Governor Robert
W. Scott on February 11, 1970.

Exhibit F—Letter dated February 12, 1970, written
by Governor Robert W. Scott to Dr. W. L. Turner,
Director of the North Carolina Department of
Administration.

Exhibit G—Statement made by Dr. A. Craig Phil-
lips on February 11, 1970.

3. Deswevation or THree-Jupce Courr, filed February
24, 1970.

The plaintiffs are directed to prepare and file on or before
Monday, March 2, 1970, proposed findings of fact and con-
clusions of law and a proposed order, and a brief in support
of their position.
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The other parties are directed to prepare and file on or
before Friday, March 6, 1970, proposed findings of fact and
conclusions of law and a proposed order, and a brief in
support of their position.

If there is any additional evidence which any party de-
sires to introduce by deposition or affidavit, the court will
receive such evidence, in written form, up to and including
Friday, March 6, 1970. It is not contemplated that any
more oral testimony in a court hearing will be necessary.

The hearing before the three-judge court will not be an
evidentiary hearing, but will be a hearing based upon the
record which has been developed by the time of the hearing.

This the 25th day of February, 1970.

/s/ James B. McMiLLax
James B. McMillan
United States District Judge

A True Copy

TEsTE:
Tros. E. Ruopes, Clerk

By: Mildred L. Loozer
Deputy Clerk
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Notice of Appeal
(Filed February 25, 1970)

Notice is hereby given that the Charlotte-Mecklenburg
Board of Education, a public body corporate; William K.
Poe, Henderson Belk, Dan Hood, Ben F. Huntley, Betsy
Kelly, Sam McNinch, IIT and Carlton G. Watkins, defen-
dants above named hereby appeal to the United States

Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit from the follow-
ing orders entered in this action on the dates indicated:

Opinion and Order dated April 23, 1969,
Two Orders dated June 4, 1969,

Opinion and Order dated June 20, 1969,
Order dated August 15, 1969,

Order dated August 29, 1969,

Order dated October 10, 1969,

Order dated November 7, 1969,

Opinion and Order dated December 1, 1969,
Order dated December 2, 1969, and

Order dated February 5, 1970,

together with the findings of fact and conclusions of law
relied upon by the Court in support of the foregoing orders.
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This 25th day of February, 1970.

WiLLiam J. WaGGONER

William J. Waggoner

Weinstein, Waggoner, Sturges, Odom
and Bigger

1100 Barringer Office Tower

Charlotte, North Carolina

Bewng. S. Horack

Benj. S. Horack

Ervin, Horack and McCartha
806 East Trade Street
Charlotte, North Carolina

Attorneys for Defendants
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Motion to Add Additional Parties Defendant and
For Further Relief

(Filed February 27, 1970)

On February 5, 1970, this Court directed that the Char-
lotte-Mecklenburg Board of Iiducation and other defend-
ants proceed immediately with a plan for complete de-
segregation of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools. On
February 26, 1970, this Court entered an order adding addi-
tional parties and directing that they show cause why they
should not be enjoined from interfering with or otherwise
preventing the implementation of the February 5 order.
The additional parties defendant had taken steps and con-
spired to thwart, inhibit and in any way frustrate the
orders of this Court. Some of the additional parties de-
fendant had secured patently illegal orders from the State
Superior Court purportedly enjoining implementation of
the orders of this Court.

On Sunday night, February 22, at approximately 10:16
pm., a time when plaintiffs understand the courts of this
State are normally closed for business purposes, approxi-
mately 50 people, some of whom have now been added as
parties defendant, filed in the Superior Court of Mecklen-
burg County another complaint seeking to enjoin imple-
mentation of the orders of this Court. They secured from
the Honorable Frank Snepp, Resident Judge of the Su-
perior Court of Mecklenburg County, an order purportedly
enjoining the Charlotte-Mecklenburg School Board from
instituting or implementing or putting into effect the order
of this Court. The order of the Superior Court of Mecklen-
burg County was dated Sunday, February 22, 1970 and
was filed in the Superior Court of Mecklenburg County
on the same date at 10:16 p.m. This is the third order of
the Mecklenburg County Superior Court seeking to frus-
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trate and to prevent implementation of the orders of
this Court. With full knowledge of the lack of jurisdiction
of the Superior Court to enjoin orders of the Federal Court
declaring constitutional rights, Superior Courts of the
State have repeatedly entered such orders and, plaintiffs
are advised and so allege, will continue to do so unless
and until enjoined by this Court.

It is clear that the plaintiffs involved in the proceeding
in the Superior Court of Mecklenburg Couty and the Su-
perior Court well knew the lack of jurisdiction of the
Superior Court to restrain or enjoin orders entered by
this Court. The timing of the order, the continued efforts
of the plaintiffs in that proceeding clearly show the in-
genuous efforts of the parties in those proceedings to at-
tempt to frustrate, inhibit and prevent the implementation
of the orders of this Court.

At great expense, plaintiffs have sought to secure the
enjoyment of their rights as protected and secured by the
Constitution of the United States. At great expense, plain-
tiffs have been harassed, intimidated and threatened be-
cause of their efforts to enjoy their rights. The efforts
of the parties in the proceedings in the Superior Court of
Mecklenburg County and of the parties added as defendants
by this Court having inhibited nd frustrated the efforts
not only of the black students in this System to enjoy con-
stitutionally protected rights but have similarly frustrated
the efforts of black teachers and school personnel. Black
teachers and school personnel have been threatened and
intimidated by said parties solely as an effort to prevent
implementation of the orders of this Court. Only unless
this Court proceed immediately to deal with these patently
illegal acts and practices of these parties will Negro chil-
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dren, Negro teachers and Negro parents in the community
be able to enjoy their rights as secured by the Constitution.

The parties involved in the latest proceeding filed in
Superiar Court of Mecklenburg County are as follows:
Mrs. Robert Lee Moore, for herself and for her minor
children, Oscar Moore, Lois Moore, Grace Moore and Jerry
Moore; J. D. Little, Jr. and Bettie C. Little, for themselves
and for their minor child, Alec Little; John T. Vernon and
Nancy H. Vernon, for themselves and for their minor chil-
dren, David Vernon and Patty Vernon; Floyd T. Boyce
and Louise D. Boyce, for themselves and for their minor
children, Lou Ann Boyece and Lisa C. Boyce; V. Don Perrin
and Nancy G. Perrin, for themselves and for their minor
child, Vie Perrin; Jack V. Scott and Jane B. Scott, for
themselves and for their minor children, Kenny Scott and
Craig Scott; Mrs, Martha M. Glenn, for herself and for
her minor child, Connie Glenn; William M. Hood, Jr. and
Mary D. Hood, for themselves and for their minor children,
Roby Hood, Wrenn Hood, William M. Hood, IIT and Mary
Lib Hood; John D. Hasty, for himself and for his minor
children, John D. Hasty, Jr. and Renee Hasty; Aubrey E.
Basterlin, Jr., for himself and for his minor children, Billy
Easterlin, Vickie Easterlin and Kim Easterlin; James E.
King, for himself and for his minor children, Leigh King,
Cynthia King, Susan King and Jan King; Melvin D.
Childers, Jr., for himself and for his minor child, Cynthia
Childers; Thomas S. Weaver and Margaret S. Weaver, for
themselves and for their minor children, Libby Weaver
and Terry Weaver; Ted E. Manning and Jackie Manning,
for themselves and for their minor child, Steven Man-
ning; Horace Davis, Jr. and Evelyn A. Davis, for them-
selves and for their minor children, Horace Davis, ITI,
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Evelyn Davis and Susan Davis; Orrie B. Oats, for herself
and for her minor child, Leroy Oats, Jr.; Thomas B. Harris,
for himself and for his minor children, Steve Harris and
Kelly Harris; Lorene H. Dresser, for herself and for her
minor child, Michell Dresser; John H. Horner, for himself
and for his minor children, Laura Horner, John Horner
and Brian Horner; Shirley C. Nail, for herself and for her
minor children, Kim Nail and Deana Nail; G. Donald Rob-
erson, for himself and for his minor child, Charles Rober-
son; Raymond Kenneth Young and Edna R. Young, for
themselves and for their minor child, Kathy Young; Wil-
liam K. Summerville, for himself and for his minor chil-
dren, Michael Summerville and Craig Summerville; James
L. Kiser, for himself and for his minor child, Kimberly
Kiser; Charles N. Briley, for himself and for his minor chil-
dren, Allison Briley and Nathaniel Briley; William R. Dow-
tin and Marion W. Dowtin; J. Frank Newton and Frances
M. Newton; W. Baine Martin and Elizabeth M. Martin; Ed-
ward S. Fisher and Emily S. Fisher; Thomas E. McCabe
and Ann R. McCabe; Lloyd Ellis Zedaker, Jr. and Mary
Frances Zedaker; Brenda A. Hill; Baxter L. Dixon; and
Horace N. Williamson. Attorneys William H. Booe and
Whiteford S. Blakeney brought suit on behalf of said par-
ties. The Honorable Frank Snepp issued the restraining
order on behalf of the parties. The temporary restraining
order issued by Judge Snepp is returnable before him on
the 3rd day of March, 1970 at 9:30 a.m.

Plaintiffs respectfully pray that the Court issue an order
joining the following as additional parties defendants:
Mrs. Robert Lee Moore, for herself and for her minor
children, Oscar Moore, Lois Moore, Grace Moore and
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Jerry Moore; J. D. Little, Jr. and Bettie C. Little, for
themselves and for the minor child, Alec Little; John
T. Vernon and Nancy H. Vernon, for themselves and for
their minor children, David Vernon and Patty Vernon;
Floyd T. Boyce and Louise D. Boyce, for themselves and
for their minor children, Lou Ann Boyce and Lisa C.
Boyce; V. Don Perrin and Nancy G. Perrin, for themselves
and for their minor child, Vie Perrin; Jack V. Scott and
Jane B. Scott, for themselves and for their minor children,
Kenny Scott and Craig Scott; Mrs. Martha M. Glenn, for
herself and for her minor child, Connie Glenn; William
M. Hood, Jr. and Mary D. Hood, for themselves and for
their minor children, Roby Hood, Wrenn Hood, William
M. Hood, IIT and Mary Lib Hood; John D. Hasty, for
himself and for his minor children, John D. Hasty, Jr.
and Renee Hasty; Aubrey E. Easterlin, Jr., for himself
and for his minor children, Billy Easterlin, Vickie Easter-
lin and Kim Easterlin; James E. King, for himself and
for his minor children, Leigh King, Cynthia King, Susan
King and Jan King; Melvin D. Childers, Jr. for himself
and for his minor child, Cynthia Childers; Thomas S.
Weaver and Margaret S. Weaver, for themselves and for
their minor children, Libby Weaver and Terry Weaver;
Ted E. Manning and Jackie Manning, for themselves and
for their minor child, Steven Manning; Horace Davis, Jr.
and Evelyn A. Davis, for themselves and for their minor
children, Horace Davis, III, Evelyn Davis and Susan
Davis; Orrie B. Oats, for herself and for her minor child,
Leroy Oats, Jr.; Thomas B. Harris, for himself and for
his minor children, Steve Harris and Kelly Harris; Lorene
H. Dresser, for herself and for her minor child, Michell
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Dresser; John H. Horner, for himself and for his minor
children, Laura Horner, John Horner and Brian Horner;
Shirley C. Nail, for herself and for her minor children,
Kim Nail and Deana Nail; G. Donald Roberson, for himself
and for his minor child, Charles Roberson; Raymond
Kenneth Young and Edna R. Young, for themselves and
for their minor child, Kathy Young; William K. Summer-
ville, for himself and for his minor children, Michael
Summerville, and Craig Summerville; James L. Kiser,
for himself and for his minor child, Kimberly Kiser;
Charles N. Briley, for himself and for his minor children,
Allison Briley and Nathaniel Briley; William R. Dowtin
and Marion W. Dowtin; J. Frank Newton and Frances
M. Newton; W. Baine Martin and Elizabeth B. Martin;
Edward S. Fisher and Emily S. Fisher; Thomas E. McCabe
and Ann R. McCabe; Lloyd Ellis Zedaker, Jr. and Mary
Frances Zedaker; Brenda A. Hill; Baxter L. Dixon; Horace
N. Williamson; William H. Booc; Whiteford S. Blackeney;
and the Honorable Frank Snepp.

Plaintiffs further pray that the Court issue a temporary
restraining order dissolving the injunctive order entered
in the proceeding by the Honorable Frank Snepp entitled:
Mrs. Robert Lee Moore, et al. v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg
Board of Education, et al., 70 CVS 2045, and temporarily
and permanently restraining any further proceedings in
the action.

Plaintiffs further pray that the Court specifically enjoin
Honorable Frank Snepp and all other State Court judges
from issuing temporary injunctive orders or entering fur-
ther proceedings designed to or which have the effect of
restraining, preventing, prohibiting or in any way inhibit-
ing the order of this Court.
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Plaintiffs further pray the Court for a temporary and
permanent injunction against all defendants, including the
additional parties defendant added and requested herein
to be added and all parties having notice of the orders
of this Court from initiating or proceeding with any action
in any state court which has the purpose or effect of inter-
fering with outstanding order in this cause.

Plaintiffs further pray the Court for a temporary and
permanent injunction restraining all parties defendant
from in any way intimidating the plaintiffs, students and
teachers who seek in this proceeding to enjoy their con-
stitutionally protected rights.

Plaintiffs further pray that the Court temporarily and
permanently enjoin all defendants from in any way taking
steps to inhibit or frustrate the orders of this Court.

Plaintiffs further pray the Court that they be allowed
their costs in this proceeding and reasonable counsel fees.

Plaintiffs further pray that the Court direct the United
States Marshal to personally serve a copy of the Com-
plaint, the Amended Complaint, the Motion for Further
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Relief and all orders, including the injunctive order prayed
for herein upon all defendants named herein.

Respectfully submitted,

Coxrap O. Pearsox
203%%, Hast Chapel Hill Street
Durham, North Carolina

Cuamsers, STEIN, FERGUSON &
Laxvyive
216 West Tenth Street
Charlotte, North Carolina

JACK (REENBERG
James M. Nasrrr, ITI
Normax CHACHKIN
10 Columbus Circle
New York, New York

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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Motion for Temporary Restraining
Order and for Contempt

(Filed February 27, 1970)

Plaintiffs, by their undersigned counsel, respectfully
move the Court for a temporary restraining order and an
order finding all members of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg
Board of Education and the Superintendent of the Char-
lotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools in contempt and exacting
a fine of each of the said defendants in the amount of
$10,000.00 per day or imprisonment pending compliance by
said defendants with the orders of this Court. As grounds
for said motion, plaintiffs respectfully show the following:

1. On Sunday night, February 22, 1970, the Honorable
Frank Snepp of the Mecklenburg Superior Court entered
an ex parte temporary restraining order purporting to en-
join the School Board from complying with the orders of
this Court. The ex parte order of the Mecklenburg Su-
perior Court was patently in violation of the supremacy
clause of the Constitution of the United States.

2. On February 26, 1970, the defendants, Charlotte-
Mecklenburg Board of Education and Superintendent of
the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools removed the
State proceeding to this Court.

3. Knowing the patent invalidity of the State Court
order, the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education and
the Superintendent of Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public
Schools have now decided to ignore the orders of this Court
and to follow the unconstitutional order of the State Su-
perior Court. Said defendants have never intended and
do not intend now to implement the orders of this Court
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and, in the absence of some immediate steps by this Court,
will continue to frustrate and deny the constitutional rights
of plaintiffs herein.

4. On four different occasions, plaintiffs have alleged
the contemptuous practices of these defendants of ignoring
the clear directives of the Court and the rights of the plain-
tiffs. On each occasion, the Court has reserved decision.
The patience of the Court now places the plaintiffs in the
position of having declared constitutional rights which are
being and will continue to be illegally frustrated and de-
nied by the lawless actions of these public officials who have
refused to obey every substantive directive of this Court.

5. In order to insure implementation of the Court’s
orders and the enjoyment by plaintiffs of their constitu-
tional rights immediate and effective steps need be taken
now by the Court. In the order entered by this Court on
February 26, 1970, adding additional parties the Court
directed the added parties-defendant to show cause on
March 10, 1970, why the relief requested by plaintiffs should
not be granted. Plaintiffs requested, on February 27, 1970,
that other additional parties be added, parties who initi-
ated and obtained the temporary restraining order issued
by the Mecklenburg Superior Court. To wait now for the
March 10, 1970 hearing would clearly frustrate and pre-
vent implementation of the February 5, 1970 order of this

Court.

‘WrEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully pray that the Court
issue immediately a temporary restraining order enjoining
the enforcement of the State Court orders which infringe
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upon outstanding orders of this Court; enjoining any fur-
ther efforts by all defendants from taking steps which would
prevent and inhibit the implementation of the orders of
this Court and finding all members of the Charlotte-Meck-
lenburg Board of Education and the Superintendent of the
Charlotte-Mecklenburg Public Schools in contempt of the
orders of this Court and imposing a fine of not less than
$10,000.00 or imprisonment for each day that said defen-
dants fail to implement the orders of this Court.

Respectfully submitted,

Conrap O. Prarson
203Y% East Chapel Hill Street
Durham, North Carolina

CHaAMBERS, STEIN, FERGUSON & LANNING
216 West Tenth Street
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

JACK (GREENBERG
James M. Nasrrr, 111
NorMax CHACHKIN
10 Columbus Circle
New York, New York 10019

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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Affidavit of J. LeVonne Chambers in Support of Order

J. LEVor~neE CEHaMBERS, being first duly sworn, deposes
and says:

That he is one of counsel for plaintiffs in the above-
styled case.

That since the filing of the most recent motion by plain-
tiffs for the addition of parties defendant and for further
relief, it has been brought to his attention that the School
Board, on advice of their counsel, has now decided to do
nothing else to comply with this Court’s order on the basis
of the most recent restraining order entered by the Superior
Court of Mecklenburg County on Sunday night, February
22, 1970 in the case entitled Moore, et al. v. Charlotte-Meck-
lenburg Board of Education, 70 CVS 2045.

That plaintiffs have taken further discovery with respect
to steps previously taken by the School Board following
this Court’s order of February 5, 1970.

That the evidence now of record will establish that the
Board has not complied and does not intend to comply with
the mandate of the Court to desegregate.

That in order to insure the full implementation of the
directives of this Court, it is imperative that the Court
take action to insure compliance with its orders by immedi-
ately enjoining all proceedings in the State Court, tempo-
rarily and permanently enjoining the additional parties and
the original parties defendants from in any way attempting
to prevent or obstruct the carrying out of this Court’s
orders.

This 27 day of February, 1970.
J. LEVonNE CHAMBERS

(Sworn to February 27, 1970)
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Request for Admission

(Filed February 27, 1970)

To: William J. Waggoner, Esq.
Weinstein, Waggoner, Sturges & Odom
1100 Barringer Office Tower
Charlotte, North Carolina

Benjamin S. Horack, HEsq.
806 East Trade Street
Charlotte, North Carolina

Plaintiffs request that the defendants admit the follow-
ing facts pursuant to Rule 36 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure:

1. That at least since 1930 until 1961 Mecklenburg County
Board of Education, which has merged with the former
Charlotte City Board of Education, operated public school
buses to transport students to and from school.

2. That said Board operated and routed these buses on
a racially segregated basis, transporting Negro students to
Negro schools and white students to white schools.

3. That because of the segregated schools, bus routes
overlapped and Negro students who may have resided near
white schools were transported by such schools to all-Negro
schools and white students who may have lived near Negro
schools were transported by such schools to all-white
schools.

4. That at least since 1930 until 1961 the Charlotte City
Board of Education which has now merged with the former
Mecklenburg County Board of Education, operated public
school buses to transport students to and from school.
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5. That said Board operated and routed these buses on
a racially segregated basis, transporting Negro students to
Negro schools and white students to white schools.

6. That because of the segregated schools, bus routes
overlapped and Negro students who may have resided near
white schools were transported by such schools to all-Negro
schools and white students who may have lived near Negro
schools were transported by such schools to all-white
schools.

7. Since 1961, following the merger of the County and
City Boards, the school board continued to provide trans-
portation for students in the sytem who resided in the
county or within the areas of the city annexed subsequent to
1957 who resided more than 114 miles from the schools to
which they were assigned.

8. That since 1961 until the closing of the ten all-Negro
schools in the county in 1966, the merged board continued
to provide separate bus service for Negro and white stu-
dents.

9. That pursuant to the plan approved by the Court in
August, 1969, the school board has provided transportation
for approximately 767 inner-city black students to be trans-
ported to white residential areas of the city and county.

10. That the inner-city black students above referred to
in many instances passed other schools serving their grade
level on the way to the schools to which they had been
assigned.
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Prease Taxke Notice that answers to the foregoing Re-
quest for Admission must be served upon the undersigned
within ten (10) days.

Respectfully submitted,

Conrap O. PEArsoN
2031 East Chapel Hill Street
Durham, North Carolina

CraMBERS, STEIN, FERGUSON AND LANNING
216 West Tenth Street
Charlotte, North Carolina

Jack GREENBERG
James M. Nasrit, 111
10 Columbus Circle
New York, New York 10019

Attorneys for Plawmitiffs
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Amendment, Correction or Clarification of Order of
February 5, 1970 dated March 3, 1970

Paragraph 7 of the February 5, 1970, order read in part
as follows:

“7. That transportation be offered on a uniform
non-racial basis to all children whose attendance in any
school is necessary to bring about the reduction of seg-
regation, and who live farther from the school to
which they are assigned than the Board determines to
be walking distance. Estimates of the number of chil-
dren who may have to be transported have run as high
as 10,000 or more.”

Since February 5, estimates have been made by defen-
dants that paragraph 7 would require transporting more
than 23,000 pupils rather than 10,000 to 14,000, as estimated
at the hearing. Upon reviewing the evidence introduced
since that hearing, it appears that these higher estimates
may be based on construing the above langunage of para-
graph 7 so as to require an offer of transportation to all
children who live more than 1% miles from their school,
including city children who are not now entitled to trans-
portation. These, according to the testimony, may number
as many as 13,000.

The court regrets any lack of clarity in the order which
may have given rise to this interpretation. Paragraph 7
was never intended to require transportation beyond that
now provided by law for city children who are not re-
assigned, nor for those whose reassignments are not re-
quired by the desegregation program.

Accordingly, paragraph 7 of the February 5, 1970 order
is amended by deleting the words “attendance in any school”
and inserting the words “reassignment to any school,” in
the first sentence.

This the 3rd day of March, 1970.

/s/ James B. McMmLax
James B. McMillan
United States District Judge
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Court of Appeals Order Granting Stay Order of
March 5, 1970

ORDER

An application for a stay pending appeal of the order
of the Distriet Court dated February 5, 1970 made to
Judge Craven was by him referred to the entire Court
pursuant to Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Appellate
Procedure.

Upon consideration by the full Court, it appears that
disposition of this appeal will depend in part upon a reso-
lution of factual questions as yet undetermined in the
Distriect Court. Specifically, the parties are in wide dis-
agreement as to the impact of the order upon the School
Board’s transportation system, the number of pupils for
whom transportation will be required under the order, the
number of school buses needed to provide such transporta-
tion, their availability, and the cost of their acquisition and
operation. The resolution of such factual issues is neces-
sary to an orderly consideration of the issues on appeal
insofar as they are directed to the order’s requirement that
transportation be provided for pupils reassigned under
the order.

To facilitate the hearing and the disposition of this ap-
peal, the Distriet Court is requested, after such evidentiary
hearings as may be necessary, to make supplemental find-
ings of fact respecting the general issue of busing and the
effect of its order with respect to the number of pupils
transported, the number of buses required, their avail-
ability, and the additional capital and operating costs of
transportation.

The District Court is requested, if possible, to file a sup-
plemental order or memorandum, including such findings
of fact, by March 20, 1970.
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Court of Appeals Order Granting Stay Order of
March 5, 1970

This appeal is accelerated. The hearing of the appeal
will be scheduled in the Court of Appeals in Richmond,
Virginia, on April 9, 1970 and the attorneys for all parties
are directed to file their briefs in the office of the Clerk of
the Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit not later than
Tuesday, April 7, 1970.

Since it appears that the appeal cannot be heard and
determined prior to April 1, 1970, the date for implemen-
tation of the first phase of the order of the District Court,
and since the Court of Appeals is presently unable to ap-
praise, in the absence of the requested additional findings
of fact, the impact of the busing requirements,

It Is Now Orperep that the order of the District Court
dated February 5, 1970 be, and it hereby is, stayed insofar
as it requires the reassignment of pupils for whom trans-
portation would be required under the order but who are
now not transported or who are now being transported at
substantially less distance and at substantially less ex-
pense, such reassignments being those arising out of the
pairing and clustering of schools with resulting cross-
busing.

To the extent that the stay granted by this order requires
other modifications in the District Court’s order, such
modifications as may appear appropriate to the Distriet
Court to achieve a cohesive and efficient system of public
education are authorized.

Except with respect to the busing requirements of the
order which are hereby stayed and the resulting necessary
modifications hereby authorized, the application for a stay
is denied, and implementation of the order of the District
Court is directed at the times and in the manner specified
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March 5, 1970

therein, subject to the further orders of this Court and the
ultimate disposition of the appeal. This is in conformity
with the general direction of the Supreme Court that orders
of the Distriet Court shall be implemented pending the
hearing and determination of appeals from such orders.
Alexander v. Holmes County Board of Education, 396 U.S.
19; Carter v. West Feliciana Parish School Board, —
U.S. — —(January 14, 1970).

By direction of the Court.

/s/ CLEMENT L. HayNsworTH, JR.
Chief Judge, Fourth Circuit



925a

Order Suspending Superior Court Order
(Filed March 6, 1970)

Ix 7R District Courr oF THE UNITED STATES
For TaE WEsTERN DistricT 0F NORTH CAROLINA

CaarvoTTE DIvision

Civin Action No. 2631

James E. Swanw, et al.,
Plaintiffs,
—_—V—

CHARLOTTE-MECKLENBURG BoArRD oF EpucaTtion,
a public body corporate, et al.,

Defendants.
and
CiviL Actioxy No. 1974
Mzes. RoBerr Lee Moorg, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

— —

CuarLOTTE-MECKLENBURG BoARD oF Ebpucation, et al.,

Defendants.

On Sunday, February 22, 1970, Judge Frank W. Snepp,
in Moore, et al. v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Educa-
tiom, et al., a suit filed in the Superior Court of Mecklen-
burg County, North Carolina, signed a restraining order
against the defendants. The order is of record. It appears
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to have been filed at 10:16 P.M. on Sunday night, February
22, 1970.

On Friday, February 27, 1970, the defendant Board of
Education had a meeting. Without any inquiry of this
court, the Board staff were instructed to comply with the
state court order and to stop work on compliance with
the order previously entered by this court.

On February 28, 1970, counsel for all interested parties
were notified that a hearing would be conducted on March
2, 1970, on motions to set aside or to restrain the effect
of the Snepp order. Counsel for plaintiffs in the Moore
case did not appear, but sent word through secretaries
by telephone that they were occupied elsewhere.

The School Board attorneys have also filed on March 2,
1970, in the Swann case, Civil Action No. 1974, a motion
which, although it does not clearly say so, amounts to a
request by the Board to this court to relieve the Board
of the burden of Judge Snepp’s order so that it will not
interfere with the preparation and implementation of a
desegregation plan.

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has now, on March
5, 1970, issued an order which postpones pending appeal
the implementation of the clustering, pairing and cross-
bussing provisions of the February 5, 1970 order, but which
directs the implementation of the rest of the February 5
order according to its terms. It would appear that the
Board should without question follow the order of the
Court of Appeals, rather than consider itself hampered
by the Snepp order. Nevertheless, in order that there may
be no possible question about the effect of the Snepp order
henceforward, it is now, in the discretion of the court
and in the furtherance and protection of the jurisdiction
and orderly processes of this court, and pursuant to ap-
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plicable statutes, OrpERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, that the
order heretofore signed by Judge Snepp in Civil Action
No. 2631 in the Superior Court of Mecklenburgh County
be, and it is hereby suspended and held in abeyance and
of no force and effect pending the final determination by
a three-judge court or by the Supreme Court of the
issues which will be presented to the three-judge court
on March 24, 1970.

It 1s Furtuer OrpERED, that the Moore Case, No. 2631,
be referred to the three-judge court of March 24, 1970,
for such hearing and determination as that court may find
proper.

This the 6th day of March, 1970.

/s/ James B. McMriLuax
James B. McMillan
United States District Judge
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Order
(Filed March 6, 1970)

On March 5, 1970, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals
entered an order which included the following:

“Upon consideration by the full court, it appears
that disposition of this appeal will depend in part upon
a resolution of factual questions, as yet undetermined
in the District Court. Specifically, the parties are in
wide disagreement as to the impact of the order upon
the school board’s transportation system, the number
of pupils for whom transportation will be required
under the order, the number of school buses needed to
provide such transportation, their availability, and the
cost of their acquisition and operation.

“The resolution of such factual issues is necessary
to an orderly consideration of the issues on appeal
insofar as they are directed to the order’s requirement
that transportation be provided for pupils reassigned
under the order.

“To facilitate the hearing and disposition of this
appeal, the District Court is requested, after such evi-
dentiary hearings as may be necessary, to make supple-
mental findings of fact respecting the general issues of
busing and the effect of its order with respect to the
number of pupils transported, the number of buses
required, their availability and the additional capital
and operating costs of transportation.

“The District Court is requested, if possible, to file
a supplemental order or memorandum, including such
findings of fact, by March 20, 1970.”

The court directs the parties to prepare and file with the
Clerk of this court not later than Friday, March 13, 1970,
all evidence (evidence should not be interpreted to include
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argument of counsel or others nor any extended opinions)
which they would like for the court to consider bearing
upon the factual questions referred to in the March 5,
1970 order of the Court of Appeals.

Counsel for all parties are directed to produce upon
written request of opposing counsel all documents, records,
exhibits, reports, evidence or data of any and every kind
which may be requested by opposing counsel. If there are
objections upon any basis the evidence shall nevertheless
be produced and the court will pass upon the objections
after examining the evidence and hearing from counsel.

Counsel are directed to appear before the court at 2:00
P.M. on Monday, March 16, 1970, for the purpose of ex-
amining such evidence as may then be available, and de-
termining what matters can then be stipulated and whether
any further testimony will then be necessary.

The objections filed by the defendants on March 6, 1970,
to the plaintiffs’ list of additional exhibits in evidence, and
any other objections that any party makes to any demand
for evidence or addressed to the production of evidence will
be heard at the conference among court and counsel on
March 16, 1970, and counsel will be given adequate oppor-
tunity to record their then objections and exceptions.

All counsel will provide opposing counsel with copies
of all exhibits or other evidence sought to be introduced or
which the court is requested to consider.

If a further hearing is necessary after the conference
among court and counsel scheduled for March 16, 1970, it
will be conducted on Tuesday, March 17, 1970, at 10:00 A.M.

This the 6th day of March, 1970.

James B. McMiaw
- James B. McMillan
United States District Judge
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(Filed March 6, 1970)
Among other questions on which findings of fact for the

court’s report to the Court of Appeals may be necessary
are the following:

1. Total numbers of children who live (1) in the pre-1957
city boundaries, (2) in the “perimeter” area, and (3) in the
rural areas:

(a) Elementary, black and white;
(b) Junior High, black and white; and
(¢) Senior High, black and white.
2. Numbers of children in each school in the entire sys-

tem who live in a different zone from that of the school
they attended in January, 1970:

(a) Those who are supplied transportation; and
(b) Those who are not supplied transportation.
3. Average daily number of pupils riding school busses

in each school for the months of October, November and
December, 1969, and January and February, 1970.

4. With respect to the schools whose students are to be
desegregated under the court ordered plan by rezoning:

(a) How many pupils, school by school, live within
a radius of one and one-half miles of each school?

(b) How many pupils, school by school, live within
a radius of two miles of each school?
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5. Statistics from the National Safety Council or any
other responsible source showing the accident rate among
school children and the relative safety of:

(a) Walking;
(b) Riding in private vehicles; and

(¢) Riding in school busses.

6. Three maps howing in clear coloring or markings with
respect to elementary, junior high and senior high schools
the following data:

(a) The school zone for all schools in which de-
segregation by zoning is to be accomplished under the
court ordered plan; and

(b) Those schools in which desegregation is to be
accomplished under the court ordered plan by pairing
or grouping or clustering with other schools and pro-
viding transportation.

7. A map showing (1) the pre-1957 city limits, (2) the
perimeter area, and (3) the rural area, with all elementary
schools clearly located on it.

8. A map showing (1) the pre-1957 city limits, (2) the
perimeter area, and (3) the rural area, with all junior high
schools clearly located om it.

The parties are directed to procure and supply the court
by March 13, 1970, with information as above described.

This the 6th day of March, 1970.

/s/ James B. McMiLiax
James B. McMillan
United States District Judge
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Deposition of John A. Finger
March 11, 1970

[11 By consent this deposition was taken on March 11,
1970, at 12:15 P.M., in the offices of Chambers, Stein, Fer-
guson & Lanning, Attorneys at Law, 216 W. 10th Street,
Charlotte, North Carolina.

By consent all objections except as to the form of the
question are waived and objections will be made and ruled
on at the time of trial. With the consent of all counsel,
signature is waived.

APPEARANCES:

Plaintiffs—Julius L. Chambers, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Charlotte, North Carolina
Adam Stein, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Charlotte, North Carolina

Defendants—William J. Waggoner, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Charlotte, North Carolina

Dr. Jomx A. Fineer, having first been duly sworn, was
examined and testified as follows:

By Mr. Chambers:

Q. Your name is Dr. John A. Finger? A. Yes.
Q. What is your address? A. 35 Larch Street, Provi-
dence, Rhode Island.

Q. What is your occupation? [2] A. I am a college pro-
fessor.
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Q. Were you requested by the Court to assist the Court
in preparing a plan for desegregation of the Charlotte-
Mecklenburg schools? A. Yes, I was.

Q. When were you so requested? A. On December 2,
1969.

Q. What instructions did you receive at that time, Dr.
Finger? A. I was told to read the order of the Court and
to prepare a desegregation plan for Charlotte-Mecklenburg
that met the Court order.

Q. Would you state generally for the record what the
objectives of the Court order were in terms of the kind of
plan you were to prepare? A. As I understood it, I was to
draw up a plan that resulted in the elimination of all of
the all black schools.

Q. What kind of assistance were you to receive in the
preparation of the plan? A. The Court ordered the School
Department to provide me with whatever assistance was
needed to draw up a desegregation plan.

Q. Were you given an office? A. Yes, I was given an
office.

Q. Where was the office? A. In the School Department
headquarters.

Q. Was the staff of the School Board directed to provide
you with [3] all the information that you needed to pre-
pare a plan for desegregation? A. Well, the Court order
required the School Department to provide me with what-
ever information was needed and when I wanted informa-
tion or when I wanted to meet with someone, I wrote to the
School Superintendent and asked for the information or
asked for a meeting with the school staff members.

Q. Did you receive information from the school staff?
A. I received everything I asked for.
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Q. Would you explain for the record some of the things
that you did receive? A. I received the School Board min-
utes for the past year, I received demographic maps that
showed the location of pupils by grade and race, I received
enrollments in the various schools in Charlotte-Mecklen-
burg, I received school department maps showing the
School Board desegregation plan.

Q. Did you get information relative to the teachers in
the schools, the school capacities? A. Yes. I have informa-
tion concerning the number of teachers in each school by
race and I have met with the Superintendent, Asst. Super-
intendent Anderson, who is in charge of teacher assign-
ments, to discuss the plans that he had for desegregating
the faculties of the schools.

Q. Do you feel, Dr. Finger, that you received sufficient
information in order to prepare a plan for desegregation
of the [4] schools? A. Yes, I do.

Q. In the demographic map did that show the residences
of the children, too? A. No. It simply showed the number
of children residing in each half-mile grided area. The
demographic maps are a grid that coincides with the larger
school department maps and the number of children resid-
ing in each half-mile square block was shown.

Q. Did you receive information about the transportation
presently provided by the school system for students? A.
No, I did not. I didn’t ask for it.

Q. Now, have you had occasion to study the transporta-
tion that is provided by the school system? A. I have not
studied the present transportation system in detail.

Q. Would you tell us when you began work on the plan?
A. That must have been about . . . it was a Thursday, must
have been about December 5, I think it was, but it was a
Thursday, whatever that date is.
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Q. And when did you submit your plan to the Court?

Mr. Waggoner: We will stipulate February 2.
That’s the date we had that first hearing.

A. February 2. I submitted a portion of the report the
previous Thursday. The final portion of the report was
submitted on [5) the day of the hearing.

Q. Would you tell us what you did in terms of a plan
for the desegregation of this school system? How did you
go about preparing the plan? A. When I accepted this ap-
pointment by Judge McMillan and he called a meeting on,
I guess it was December 5, wasn’t it, Mr. Waggoner?

Mr. Waggoner: Yes.

A. In his chambers where Mr. Waggoner and Supt. Self
and I met, we agreed on the procedure that I would follow
in working with members of the school department. It was
agreed that whatever I wanted from Supt. Self would be
requested in writing and I followed that procedure. I also
stipulated that I did not feel that I should be a witness in
this lawsuit after I accepted the position as consultant to
the Court and I’d like to state for the record I am here under
protest, that it was my understanding that I would be
subpoenaed if T didn’t appear. I do feel it is not appropriate
to probe into the procedures that I followed in preparing
the desegregation plan. I have reported the plan to the
Court and that constitutes my official document.

Q. Would you tell us how you proceeded to desegregate
the high schools in the system? A. The general procedure
I followed in preparing the plan that I submitted to the
Court was to meet with various members of [6] the school
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department staff to talk to them about how, to ask them
about how, to ask them to react to various plans and pro-
cedures that I developed and to evaluate them in terms
of their feasibility and in the process I obtained as many
documents as were available to help me understand what
would be the most effective way to proceed. The plan that
I submitted to the Court for senior high schools is very
similar to the plan that the school department prepared
under the direction of the School Board and the only
change that I made was to make it conform with the Court
order that I was operating under so that it provided for
desegregation of all the schools. I also made the plan so
that it would provide very nearly equal ratios of black
and white students in all the senior high schools.

Q. Now, how did your proposal differ from the proposal
of the School Board with respect to the senior high schools?
A. Both plans have been presented as evidence in the court.
I would think that that question was answered by the
documents that were submitted to the Court.

Q. Could you just explain for the record what you pro-
pose to desegregate the high schools that added to or modi-
fied what the Board proposed? A. Yes. I made the ratio
of black and white students approximately equal to the
ratio of all the students at that grade level.

Q. How did you accomplish that? A. By assigning
grids to the various high schools. T used the [7] demo-
graphic map and just counted the number of students re-
siding in each grid until I achieved a ratio that was
approximately equal. In the plan that T submitted to the
Court all of the schools have a ratio between 22% and
26 with the exception of Olympic, which was intentionally
left low because of an anticipated housing development, and
for North Mecklenburg which I felt ought not to be in-
cluded in the desegregation plan.
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Q. Is North Mecklenburg the only senior high school
that had no changes in terms of the boundaries? A. There
might have been a slight change in North Mecklenburg,
I’'m not positive, but otherwise all the senior high schools
had changes in the boundaries. I’d have to check the maps
to make sure because occasionally boundaries were altered
slightly.

Q. The plan designed by the Board made use of com-
puter matching of grids from the map and enlarging or
altering school boundaries, is that correct? A. Yes, that’s
correct,

Q. Does it also create a satellite district for one of the
schools? A. Yes, it creates a satellite distriet for Inde-
pendence High [8] School.

Q. Would you explain for the record what a satellite
district is? A. Well, it’s a distriet that is—in effect it’s
two districts that are not connected to each other. One
district includes the geographic area in which the school is
located and the other satellite district is a district not at-
tached to the first one,.

Q. Did your plan follow basically the plan submitted by
the School Board with respect to the junior high schools?
A, There is a good deal of similarity between the plan I
submitted and the plan submitted by the School Board.
The major difference is that their plan did not desegregate
all of the junior high schools and it required that the
attendance zones all be connected. I established some
satellite attendance zones.

Q. Do you recall the satellite attendance zones you es-
tablished for the junior high schools? A. They are shown
on the map that I submitted to the Court. There is a satel-
lite zone for Cochran, for Eastway, for Albermarle Road,
for Alexander Graham, for MecClintock, for Wilson, for
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Project 600 Carmel Road, for Smith, for Wilson and for
Quail Hollow.

Q. Are these satellite zones that you have proposed for
the junior high schools basically Negro residential areas?
A. Yes, they are basically Negro residential areas. .

[9]1 Q. And these students are to be assigned to the
outlying white junior high schools? A. Yes, they are to
be assigned to the outlying white junior high schools.

Q. Now, did your plan follow basically the plan of the
School Board with respect to the elementary schools? A.
Well, yes, and then again, no. The School Board plan
for elementary schools used grid assignments but it did
not desegregate all of the elementary schools that my
plan called for, pairing of schools in the center of the
city with those in the outlying areas.

Q. Now, the pairing, are those schools shown on the last
page of the exhibit you attached to your proposal? A. Yes,
that’s correct. I don’t know that is a page but it’s a docu-
ment labeled Elementary Schools Paired. Is that the one
you're referring to?

Q. That’s the one. Did your consideration in desegregat-
ing the schools take account of the transportation of stu-
dents? A. Well, I don’t know just what you mean by
take account of. I considered the problems of transporta-
tion in developing various desegregation plans and came
to understand what kind of control one had over the
amount of transportation involved.

Q. Now, do you know the number of students who would
be involved in desegregation of the high schools as you
have proposed? A. Repeat that question, please.

[10] Q. Do you know the number of students who would
be involved in the reassignment under the proposal you
submitted to the Court for desegregation of the high
schools?
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Mr. Waggoner: Would you read the question back,
please?

(The Court Reporter reads the question on Line 1 above.)

A. Well, according to my count there are approximately
17,000 high school students. I guess they’d all be more or
less involved.

Q. You indicated that the boundary for North Mecklen-
burg might have been altered some. Could you just esti-
mate for us how many students would be reassigned under
the high school provision of the plan? A. There have been
some alterations in the students assigned to North Meck-
lenburg. Some students who were not assigned there last
year will be going there and some students who were as-
signed there will not be. These are students who live close
to the present city limits of Charlotte. My earlier state-
ment should have simply noted that the children who live
well north of the city limits were not included in the de-
segregation plan.

Q. Well, in your opinion would approximately 17,000
students be reassigned under the plan or less than 17,000
in the senior high schools. A. I never tried to estimate the
number of children who would be [11] reassigned. It’s a
considerable number. It varies with the color of the stu-
dent. There are more black students being reassigned pro-
portionately than white students. Just a rough estimate I
think there are probably 4000 students being reassigned.

Q. 4000? A. That would be a rough estimate. I need to
sit down and do a more careful . . .

Mr. Waggoner: Move to strike the rest of it.

Q. Could you give us an estimate of the number that
would be reassigned under your proposal of the junior high
schools?
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Mr. Waggoner: Objection.

A. Well, Mr. Chambers, I could sit down with a map and
make those estimates but I have not prepared those esti-
mates and I really don’t know the numbers that are in-
volved. It’s something that is easy enough to obtain. The
school department could obtain that number if T were to
ask for it. I didn’t ask for it.

Q. Did you determine how many students would be pro-
vided transportation in the high schools? A. I asked the
school department to prepare a report for me on the addi-
tional number of students that would be required to be
transported under the State regulations and they have pre-
pared such a report for me.

Q. How many senior high school students would be pro-
vided [12] transportation under the State regulations? A.
Under the court consultant plan the additional number of
students to be transported is 1,815.

Q. What about the junior high school students? A. I
asked the school department to prepare an estimate of that
and their estimate of the additional number of students to
be transported according to State regulations is 2,286.

Q. What about the elementary schools? A. They pre-
pared an estimate for me for the elementary schools and
that estimate is 10,614.

Q. Dr. Finger, did you consider a different method for
desegregating the elementary schools besides that you sub-
mitted to the Court?

Mr. Waggoner: Read that to me.

(The Court Reporter reads the question on Line 11
above.)

A. Yes, I did.
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Do you have a copy of the affidavit there, Bill?

Mr. Waggoner: No. I have a copy of your report
to...

A. All right, I have that.

Mr. Chambers: You have a copy of the report to
whom?

Mr. Waggoner: Whatever the one was that the
Court received there. Have you not seen this?

Mr. Chambers: No.

[13]1 (Off the record at this point by consent.)

Q. The proposal you initially considered was altered in
what respect from that fiinally submitted to the Court?
A. T believe I prepared some . .. I prepared three, four de-
segregation plans in considerable detail. I prepared more
than that in partial detail. T have already stated that in an
affidavit to the School Board attorney and I have already
testified to the fact that I prepared several plans.

Q. Do you know why the plan that was finally submitted
to the Court differed from the one that you had initially
considered? A. I submitted to the Court the one that I
thought was the best plan.

Q. Did you have any consultation with the staff to deter-
mine the one submitted was more feasible than the others
you considered? A. I have always felt that the school de-
partment was the best judge of what would be the most ef-
fective plan.

Q. Did you have consultations with the staff as to the
feasibility of the plan you submitted to the Court? A.
You see, Mr. Chambers, I am not sure that I can answer
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your question because I have been in a unique position and
the school department was ordered by the Court to co-
operate with me and I think that all I can say is that they
did cooperate with me. I consulted them extensively about
the development of desegregation plans; they provided me
with the information [14] T needed. I asked the Superin-
tendent to provide me with staff members who would ex-
amine my plans and make judgments about them. I asked
the Superintendent to make these judgments himself and
when I finally submitted a plan it was the one I thought
was the most feasible.

Q. Since the Court order have you had ocecasion to study
approximately how many children would be provided trans-
portation under your plan? A. Well, we read off the num-
bers that were prepared for me by the school department
and these seem to me to be reasonable estimates of the
amount of transportation that would be required. I have
checked the transportation estimates for all of the elemen-
tary schools and I came up with approximately the same
number as the original estimates made by the Board of
Education . . . by the school department, excuse me. They
show 10,614 and my estimates are approximately that same
number, approximately 10,000.

(Off the record by consent at this time.)

Q. How many students did you estimate would be pro-
vided transportation for the junior high schools? A. Well,
the School Board estimate was 2,286, but that estimate did
not include any students to be transported to Alexander
Grabham Junior High School and the students who reside
in the satellite district live approximately about four miles
from the Alexander Graham Junior High School and it
seems to me [15] to be unreasonable not to provide trans-
portation for them. I would have increased my transporta-
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tion estimate for Alexander Graham by about 360 stu-
dents.

Q. So your estimate would be approximately....? A.
I’'m not finished yet. There is a satellite district for MeClin-
tock Junior High School and I estimate that there are ap-
proximately 325 students who would need transportation
to MeClintock. There are a small number of students, I
estimate 100, who would need transportation to Sedgefield.
And I estimate that there are about 500 students who would
need transportation to Williams. According to my esti-
mates, the school department report overestimated the num-
ber of children needing transportation in Smith Junior High
School. They reported 432 and I think that 300 is a more
accurate estimate. That would make 3,439 students.

Q. You estimate 3,439 for the junior high schools? A.
Yes.

Q. What is your estimate for the senior high schools?
A. T think the estimate that the school department prepared
for me is essentially the same as my estimate.

Q. 1,8157 A. That’s correct.

Q. Did you consider the number of buses that might be
necessary to provide transportation? A. Excuse me a min-
ute. I need to have Mr. Morgan’s affidavit.

[16]1 (Paper writing is handed to the witness.)

Q. Did you estimate the number of buses? A. Give me a
few minutes to check my last statement.

Recess ror Luwncu

Q. Did you estimate the number of buses that would be
required for implementation of the plan? A. I have made
a number of estimates of the number of buses required. I
based my estimates on 45-passenger buses. I also made
estimates on 60-passenger buses. If there were no round
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trips at all, my estimates for busing are the elementary
school level 217 45-passenger buses; 51 45-passenger buses
at the junior high school; and 40 at the senior high school.

Q. Let me get those figures again. For the elementary?
A. 45-passenger buses, 217.

Q. And for the junior high? A. 51, and for the senior
high 40. |

Q. And you say you also made an estimate with 60-
passenger buses? A. Yes. That would take 163 buses at
the elementary level; 38 at the junior high school level ; and
30 at the senior high school.

Mr. Waggoner: What size bus is that?

A. 60.

Q. Your estimates are made on the basis of one trip? A.
Yes, that’s correct. It seems to me there are two ways that
[17] one could utilize a bus for two trips. One way would
be to have the elementary school buses used to transport the
junior high and senior high school students. There are
217 elementary buses required. Half of these, approxi-
mately a hundred, would be coming into the city and a
hundred would be going out from the city. Those hundred
coming into the city could be utilized to provide the trans-
portation for the junior high school students since most
of those are bused out and also a large number of senior
high school students are bused out and those buses could
be used in that way. That would require staggering the
starting hours of the elementary schools and junior and
senior high schools. If one were to follow that pattern, it
would require approximately the number of elementary
school buses needed which would be 217. There is another
alternate way of providing the transportation. One could
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provide staggered hours for the elementary schools. One
could start a bus in the center of the city leaving for the,
shall we call it the suburbs, and would be going against
the traffie. Traffic would be coming into the city at that
time of day, and it might leave at whatever time is desirable,
let’s say 8:00. Tt would arrive at its destination at approxi-
mately 8:30—take an average run time of half an hour. I
haven’t driven one of these routes and I don’t know what
the actual run time would be. Of course, the bus would be
going non-stop, it would not be stopping to pick up any
children, [18] it will not be stopping to leave off children.
It will have a full bus that it’s running on a straight run
to its destination. In any event, when it arrives at that
destination, it picks up children at the school. If it’s a
school in an area where children are transported in, those
children have already been transported into the school
under existing transportation and they are at that school.
They board this bus which turns around and presumably
not is behind the rush hour traffic and goes back into the
center of the city. That bus, in following this plan, would
then have to return to its starting point because the busing
pattern would be the opposite way when school is closed.
That is just one posible plan that one might use if the ob-
jective was to minimize the number of buses required. Un-
der that plan instead of needing 217 45-passenger buses for
elementary, I estimate one would need 109.

Q. Dr. Finger, let’s look at the plan that the Court has
directed itself and see how it operates. You have some
maps here and these maps have been introduced as exhibits
in court. The map for the senior high school has established
boundaries. A. This is the Board plan map and that is the
Finger plan map.

Q. Isee. Now, on the Finger plan map, so-called, the one
that has been directed by the Court, you have a satellite
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district in the midst of the city for Independence High
School. [191 A. Yes, that’s correct.

Q. You provide for approximately 300 high school stu-
dents being assigned out of that satellite district? A. The
School Board estimate of number of students to be trans-
ported to Independence was 300 and so I presume that that’s
the number of students residing in the Independence satel-
lite zone. We could check that by getting the demographic
map.

Q. Now, other than that satellite district, your plan is
basically the same as that of the School Board? A. If one
looks, for example, at the attendance zone for West Char-
lotte, one finds that the zones are almost identical. There
is a difference way over here on the northeast section where
the zone for the Board’s plan follows this old attendance
line here and on the Finger plan it goes just straight
across, going across on the top of grids number 236, 237,
238, etc. Not very many children reside in that area and
for practical purposes it’s almost identical zones. You can
see there is a little difference down in here where that zone
is straight out.

Q. Now, the School Board proposed under its plan to
provide transportation only for students who live outside
the city limits or are assigned to schools outside the city
limits as it existed in 1957. There is an affidavit by Mr.
Morgan about the number of students who would be pro-
vided transportation under the Board plan for the senior
high schools. [20] A. Yes, that’s correct.

Q. How many students does the Board estimate it would
be providing transportation for under its plan for the
senior high schools? A. According to the Morgan affidavit,
53.

Q. 53 additional students? A. 53 additional students.
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Q. In looking at this map would there be several students
living more than two miles from the school who would not
be provided transportation under the Board plan? A.
Well, I believe that all of these children who live out in
the Hidden Valley area who would reside about four and
a half, five miles from the school would not be provided
transportation. That’s pre-’57% 1 don’t know how many
children are going to be transported. The Board says under
their plan that 53 students would be transported and then
they say under the Finger plan 810 students would be trans-
ported.

Q. You're talking about for West Charlotte? A. For
‘West Charlotte. Those essentially are the same attendance
zones so that it’s obvious that the number of students trans-
ported is not a function of the attendance zone nor a fune-
tion of the size of the zone. If the same rules were to be
followed under the Finger plan as followed under the Board
plan, the Finger plan, I suppose, would require transport-
ing about 53 students.

[21] Q. For West Charlotte High School? A. For West
Charlotte High School.

Q. Looking at the junior high schools, what does the
Finger plan propose? Students would be assigned there to
junior high schools according to geographic zones? A.
Students are assigned to junior high schools by geographic
zones and there are satellite zones for ten of the junior
high schools.

Mr. Waggoner: Could I interrupt? I have to
make a phone call—I picked up the wrong file.
Smorr RECESS

Q. Going back to the senior high school, did you recom-
pute the number of students who would be provided trans-
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portation? A. In the Morgan affidavit it shows that the
number of students to be transported under the Board at
the high school level would be 1,202. The major difference
between the Board plan and the court consultant plan is in
the satellite zone for Independence High School which has
approximately 300 students in it. Thus one would expect
the estimate of the number of students to be transported
for senior high schools under the court consultant plan to
be approximately 1,500, 1,200 plus 300. When the school
department prepared their estimate they estimated 1,800
and I presume that the difference between those two figures
has to do with the slight differences in racial balance in the
attendance zones and that the minor [22] differences in
these attendance zones result in 300 more pupils being
transported under the court consultant plan than under the
Board plan and I can’t make any more accurate estimate
than that 1500 to 1800 students would seem to me to be the
appropriate estimate for semior high school students to
be transported if one were to follow the Board rules for
transporting students. The Morgan affidavit shows the
court consultant plan to be transporting 4,106 senior high
school students and that’s at least 2300 more than my esti-
mate. They are counting students in different ways in the
Morgan affidavit.

Q. Now, for the junior high schools did you compute the
approximate numbers of students that would be trans-
ported under the Court ordered plan? A. Well, the school
department prepared estimates for me and they estimated
2,286. That’s the estimate that I would make if I were
counting students in the same way that the students are
counted under the Board plan in the Morgan affidavit.

Q. How many does Mr. Morgan indicate would be trans-
ported in his affidavit? A. He shows that under the Board
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plan a total of 1388 students would be transported. My
estimates of the number transported under the court con-
sultant plan would be somewhat more than that. I already
gave you the estimate that the school department prepared
for me. In the Morgan affidavit he reports that [23] the
court consultant plan would require 6,129 junior high
school students to be transported. That is nearly 4,000
more than my estimate.

Q. Would you state the criteria that you’re using for your
estimates? A. Well, the criterion I am using for my esti-
mates are the number of students to be transported accord-
ing to State regulations. That’s the rule that was followed
when the school department prepared this transportation
estimate for me. When one compares the attendance zones
for the court consultant plan and the Board plan, one will
find there are many instances where the attendance zones
are identical or nearly identical. For example, we might
look at the Williams Junior High School attendance zones
and observe that those attendance zones are nearly identical
and according to the Morgan estimate for transportation
under the Finger plan there would be 630 students trans-
ported, but under the Board plan there would be no stu-
dents transported. Now, obviously if one follows the same
rules one transports the same number of students in the
same attendance zone. We could go through many of these
attendance zones and discover that the court consultant
plan, in fact, requires less transportation.

Q. Than the proposal of the school . .. ? A. Than the
proposal of the School Board, or it puts more students in
close proximity of the school.

[24]1 Q. Looking at the Court ordered plan for elemen-
tary schools, would you explain basically what this plan
does? A. What the Board plan does?
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Q. No, what the Court plan does. A. The Court plan
has some schools that have redrawn attendance zones which
are essentially walk-in schools. These schools with redrawn
attendance zones are the schools that are largely on the
perimeter of the center of the city or in the area where the
Barringer and Marie Davis schools are. There are then
some remaining schools that are all black in the center of
the city and one all black school, the Marie Davis School
near the center of the city, and a large number of white
or predominantly white schools in the outlying area of the
city. The attendance zones for the center city schools and
for these outlying schools are essentially the same atten-
dance zones as now exist and these schools are paired or
grouped with schools in the center of the city so that black
students from the center of the city at grades 1 through 4
leave their schools and are transported to a school that
has been all white and the white students in turn in grades
5 and 6 go into the center of the city school.

Q. The number of paired schools is 34, 10 black and 24
white schools? A. It’s a matter of record here. Is that the
correct number? Yes.

[251 Q. The Court ordered plan differs in that respect
from the plan submitted by the School Board? A. Yes,
that’s right.

Q. With respect to elementary schools? A. Yes, that’s
right.

Q. Have you made an estimate of the number of students
who would be provided transportation under the Court or-
dered plan? A. Yes, I have. The court ordered plan re-
quires transporting the students from the center of the
city out to the white schools and the transporting of white
students into the center of the city and there are approx-
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imately 10,000 students to be transported, 5,000 white stu-
dents and 5,000 black students.

Q. Now, could you tell us whether the methods that are
followed in desegregating the elementary schools are in-
dependent? You have some schools that have zones and
some schools that are paired. Could the Board implement
the plan for the paired schools immediately? A. Yes, they
could.

Q. Could they implement the plan for the zoned schools
immediately? A. Well, interestingly enough, it’s harder to
do that than it is the pairing because there is a lot more
schools with change involved and they all have to change
at the same time. But I believe the answer to that ques-
tion is yes, they could.

Q. First of all, let’s establish whether some schools in the
[26]1 county have retained their previous geographic at-
tendance zones. A. Yes, that’s correct.

Q. The schools that are affected by the plan principally
are those that are in the inner city and adjacent to the
inner city, is that correct? A. The inner city schools have
the same attendance zones under the court consultant plan
as they had before. Those have not been changed.

Q. And is the same true of those schools that are paired
with the inner city schools? A. Those schools that are
paired with the inner city schools have, for the most part,
not been changed. We could look at some specific illustra-
tions if you wanted to.

Q. Would you do that? A. We could note the Bruns
Avenue School that is located at grid 317B and it has, I
believe, the same attendance zone under this plan that it
has had previously and under the court consultant plan
it is to be paired with Huntingtown Farms, which is lo-
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cated at grid 534B, and with Sharon at 570B, and with
Starmount at 508C. All three of those schools have the
same attendance zones under the court consultant plan that
they have at the present time. Thus it would be possible
to just carry out the pairing or clustering since there are
four schools involved here for those four schools and it
wouldn’t [27] involve any other schools or any other dis-
location of pupils at all.

Q. The pairing or clustering, then, could be done inde-
pendently of each other, you could do one set of pairing
without doing the others? A. Yes, you could. It was the
major reason that this plan was proposed to the Court. It
can be done step by step.

Q. Would you explain that? A. Well, if there are ques-

tions as to the exact amount of transportation required, one
way to find out the exact amount of transportation required
is to carry out or begin to carry out the desegregation plan
and you could pair group by group as long as you’ve got
school buses to do it with. When you run out of school
buses, you may have to stop implementing the plan at that
point. ‘
Q. What makes it easier to carry out the clustering of
schools than to make the assignments under the new at-
tendance zones? A. Well, the attendance zones for the
paired schools have not been changed and, therefore, the
children already going to that school can get to the school
using the present transportation routes that are already
established. When they arrive at that school, there is a
bus to take them to their new school assignment and so
that the only change that takes place is the cross city bus
run, a straight run.

Q. And with the rezoning, if it becomes necessary for the
Board [28] to determine who the students are in the new
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zone? A. The school department can do that because they
know the names of the students that live in each one of the
grids but you have to do it all at the same time. Many of
the children, a large proportion of the children will be
going to the same school they were going to in the past.
When you change one school, some children who have been
in that school have to leave in order to make room for the
new children coming in. So you have to schedule a day in
which a large number of children change schools. Since
most of these children are going to be able to walk in, it
will be feasible to do this. I suppose the Superintendent
can write a letter. The computer system has the names of
all the children in those grids and it’s a matter of prepar-
ing a letter and addressing it by computer advising the
parents what school to go to.

Q. We talked earlier this morning about the other plans
that you had considered. Would you tell us now the reason
why the plan that was submitted to the Court was substi-
tuted in lieu of the plan that you had initially worked up?
A. T developed one plan that had some features that were
improvements on the one that the Court has ordered. It
used hand-drawn attendance zones, zones that followed nat-
ural boundaries for the schools that were contiguous to the
center city. By doing it that way you can reduce the num-
ber of children to be transported, but not a great deal. It
also changed a large [29] number of attendance zones and
it was apparent when the plan was thoroughly studied by
the school staff that it was extremely difficult to implement
that plan and I became aware of the fact that while the
plan had some features that were improvement, it was very
hard to carry out.

Q. Was the difficulty of implementing the plan that you
initially prepared a matter of time, that it would take more
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time to implement the one that you had than the one you
submitted? A. Well, there were other features that were
different and it seems obvious when one studies this plan
that was submitted to the Court that one of its major fea-
tures is that it’s a feasible plan one can carry out and 1
think that it was in consultation with the school staff that
I became aware of the fact that this was a plan that could
be carried out.

Q. You have a statement in your report to the Court
which reads as follows: ... the last page of the report . ..
“I have prepared several different desegregation plans. No
matter which is pursued the end result is that approx-
imately 5,000 children must be bused out from the center
of the city and 5,000 bused in. The problem becomes one
of deciding which children should be bused and how far.
Should the distance traveled be given priority? Should a
child residing five miles from a school be exempt but not
a child who would be bused four miles?” And skipping the
next two paragraphs, you then say: “It is my understand-
ing that the School Board had considered and [30] rejected
a plan that would bus children to provide for complete
desegregation. That plan is attached to this report. You
will find that there are various tables showing projected
enrollment and a map detailing the schools to be paired.”
What plan was that that was rejected by the Board? A.
The court consultant plan.

Q. The one that was submitted to the Court? A. That’s
my understanding, yes.

Q. Dr. Finger, had the staff considered the plan you have
submitted to the Court and that has been directed to be
implemented by the Court and found that plan to be fea-
sible?
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Mr. Waggoner: Objection unless he knows.

A. T wouldn’t have submitted the plan to the Court if I
didn’t think it was a feasible plan and if it was not my
impression the school department felt it could be carried
out.

Mr. Waggoner: Motion to strike his answer.

Q. Have you studied Mr. Morgan’s affidavit? A. I only
received it this morning but I have studied it and I have
a page missing on the elementary schools. I read it through
and, yes, I have studied it briefly.

Q. Mr. Morgan has stated in his affidavit that he es-
timates that he needs approximately 526 buses to implement
the court ordered plan. Did you have a chance to consider
that estimate? A. Yes, I did.

Q. Did you find that estimate to be accurate? [311 A. 1
found it to be utilizing different rules for counting students
under the court consultant plan than under the Board plan
and I don’t know how Mr. Morgan arrived at these num-
bers that he lists under his transportation estimates for
the court consultant plan. We’ve already testified to the
effect that at the junior high school and high school levels
he makes estimates that are grossly different from my esti-
mates and it’s quite clear that when he says that the Board
plan is requiring one number of buses and the court con-
sultant plan is requiring a different number of buses he is
using different methods of estimating the number. As far
asg I can tell, the number of junior high school students and
the number of high school students . . . strike that, please,
I want to start over again. I’ve already testified to the
number of high school and junior high school students that
would be transported under the court consultant plan. Un-
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der the elementary school plan I estimate that the number
of children to be bused would be approximately 10,000, the
5,000 children bused into the center of the city and the 5,000
bused out in addition to those already bused.

Q. Did you find any other discrepancies in the estimates
of Mr. Morgan? A. Well, yes. We could detail all of the
discrepancies at the junior high school level if you wanted
to do that.

Q. Let’s do that. [32]1 A. I can also note some discrep-
ancies at the elementary school level but because I am
missing a page of his affidavit, I can only note diserepan-
cies in a few of the elementary schools.

Mr. Waggoner: What page is missing?

A. It’s the first page that begins Albemarle School, and so
on, for elementary schools. I note that he shows under the
court consultant plan for elementary schools for Hunting-
town Farms he shows 220 students; for Sharon he shows
230; for Starmount he shows 256. Those add up to 706 stu-
dents. Those schools are all clustered with Bruns Avenue.
But the number of white students to be transported are only
940. Therefore, there’s a difference of 166 students. I don’t
know how he got those estimates. I would think that the
number of additional students to be transported from those
three schools, Huntingtown Farms, Sharon and Starmount,
would be 540 since that is the number of 5th and 6th grade
white students shown in Bruns Avenue.

Q. Would you give us some other examples of the ele-
mentary schools? A. Yes. His Park Road and Pinewood
add to 691 but only 532 white students are to go to Marie
Davis, the school paired with those two schools. He shows
342 from Hidden Valley. That schoo] is paired with Druid
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Hills but 303 white students are assigned to Druid Hills.
His estimates for Montclaire, Rama Road are 529, Those
schools are grouped with University Park [33] and the
number of white students there is 461. For Selwyn,
Windsor Park and Winterfield the total number of students
is 1053 but their satellite school is Villa Heights which has
668 white students in it. I might add that all of those schools
have the same attendance zones under the court ordered
plan as they do now.

Q. No additional students would be involved? A. No
additional students would be involved. The only addition
would be the transportation for pairing or clustering.

Q. Would you look at the junior high school estimates
and tell us whether you have noted any discrepancies there
in Mr. Morgan’s affidavit? A. I believe we have already
mentioned the Williams discrepancy. Those attendance
zones are essentially the same zones but under the court
consultant plan there are 630 students to be transported
and none under the Board plan. For Alexander Graham
Bell there are 732 to be transported under the court con-
sultant plan and none under the Board plan. If one com-
pares those two districts one finds that the distances in-
volved in getting to school are approximately the same even
though the court consultant plan has a satellite zone. Those
same children residing in that satellite zone are assigned
to the Alexander Graham School under the Board plan so
that the same students are involved. The difference is that
a group of students in an interim area are assigned to a
different [34] school. They are assigned to Piedmont under
the court consultant plan and they are assigned to the Alex-
ander Graham School under the Court ordered plan.

Q. Court ordered or Board plan? A. Under the Board
plan, whichever it should be. I’'m mixed up. Eastway shows
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603 students to be transported under the court consultant
plan and none under the Board plan but again if one com-
pares the attendance zones for Eastway, one finds that this
grid #296A, C and D constitute the satellite zone for East-
way and under the Board plan two of those same grids,
296C and D are assigned to that school. The difference is
that the Board plan has this long, strung-out attendance
zone but the attendance zone for the court consultant plan
is essentially a more compact one. Therefore, it ought not
to require more transportation but less, if one were to count
the transportation in the same way. The court consultant
plan, according to the Morgan affidavit, York Road trans-
ports 365 students and the Board plan none; Hawthorne
468 under the court consultant plan and under the Board
plan none ; Spaugh under the court consultant plan 290 and
under the Board plan none; Randolph under the court
consultant plan 90 and under the Board plan 59 ; Piedmont
under the court consultant plan 424 and under the Board
plan none. If one examines those attendance zones one
would find they are for the most part very similar in geo-
graphic area except for Piedmont. Piedmont has [35] a
different configuration under the court consultant plan be-
cause it is a desegregated school and under the Board plan
it was an all black school or predominantly black school.
If one examines the compactness of the two districts under
the two plans, one finds one is as compact as the other. The
other two schools to be mentioned are Sedgefield, 252 under
the court consultant plan and in the Morgan affidavit
none; and Coulwood 126 and the Board plan has more, 220.

Q. Again, as I understood your testimony with respect
to the number of buses, you estimate is that if the method
of staggering school terms is used that the Court ordered
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plan could be implemented with 109 buses. A. At the ele-
mentary school level.

Q. Would additional buses be needed for the junior high
and senior high schools? A. Yes. The 109 for elementary
schools assumes staggered hours, with each bus making a
run in and a run out, or a run out and a run in.

Q. One of the questions directed by the Court of Appeals
was how many buses would be needed to implement the
plan. Now, would you give us a figure of what you would
consider the minimum number that would be needed to im-
plement the plan as directed by the Court? A. If one were
to start with, let’s say the Marie Davis, Park Road, Pine-
wood cluster, and use staggered hours, it would take [36]
11 buses to do that one clustering, 11 45-passenger buses.
As I have already testified, one can begin to implement the
plan because one can do it cluster by cluster. You asked me
the total number of buses required to implement the plan
and I'll try to make an estimate of that. I have already
testified that one estimate would be the number of elemen-
tary school buses making a single run because these buses
could be used for junior and senior high schools transporta-
tion. That estimate would result in 217 being required. An-
other procedure would be to use elementary buses on stag-
gered hours and one way bus runs for junior and senior
high school students. That would give me an estimate of
200 45-passenger buses.

Q. Would that 200 be for the elementary, junior and se-
nior high schools? A. That would be for all levels, that’s
correct. I believe that it would be possible to use less
transportation than this because I believe that it would be
possible to utilize public transportation for some of these
junior and senior high school students and that might be
by far the more feasible procedure to follow. I am unable
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to work out the complete details or the details on what such
a plan would be but I have made a rough estimate that
the number of buses required might be under 150 if public
transportation were used to supplement the senior and
junior high school transportation. This would not [37]
mean using their buses for just school purposes but provid-
ing funds for junior and senior high school students to ride
on the buses on their existing routes.

Q. The estimates you have just given us were based on
a 45-passenger bus? A. That’s correct.

Q. Would the estimate be less if you were talking about
a 60-passenger bus? A. Yes. If you’re talking about a
60-passenger bus the elementary might require only 83 buses
and the junior and senior high schools 20 buses. I want to
make it clear that I have made these estimates without a
very detailed analysis of exactly where these bus runs are
but in contrast to the affidavit here that shows some 500-odd
buses are required, I think that my estimates are far more
accurate than those.

Q. There is an affidavit submitted by the Board to the
effect that by adding buses on the streets that it would, Mr.
Hoose says. ...

Mr. Waggoner: You're starting to bedraggle this
thing. Can you hit the nails and get going because
I've got a lot of questions I have to ask and I'm
going to stay here as long as I have to and I’'m not
going to burden Mrs. Berger with a deposition that
she can’t complete by Friday.

Mr. Chambers: The thing I want to do here is to
[38] check. You filed some affidavits in here.

Mr. Waggoner: Ihave no objection, I'm just mak-
ing a statement.
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Q. It’s talking about stop and go traffic of the buses on
the streets. Would you state the method that is proposed?
Are these buses going to be stopping on the streets? A.
Not to load and unload passengers. The pickups in the cen-
ter of the city would be, I suppose, at the schools and I would
suppose the pickup would be at the white schools that are
paired because many of those children would be bused into
their schools on existing bus routes and so there would be
no pickups at all. The paired school transportation would
be from school to school with no stops.

Q. In picking the pairs for the schools did you take into
account the roads and streets over which the students
would be transported? A. I believe that the staff that
prepared those plans for me took two things into con-
sideration. One was the capacity of the school and the other
was the available transportation.

Q. Did you have some pairs that you considered that
were eliminated because the ones that were finally adopted
were more feasible? A. Well, by the time we came to the
drawing up of this final plan, the staff and I had worked
together on a great many different arrangements of cluster-
ing and pairing and we had [39] come to know what schools
would pair with what and some of the earlier plans, we
had corridor-like clustering, and some of the members of
the school department staff were well familiar with where
the clustering would effectively take place, given where the
roads existed where clustering would be most effective.

Q. I might have asked you this but I’ll ask you again.
In your opinion can the plan as directed by the Court fea-
sibly be implemented by the School Board within the time
directed by the Court? A. I have already testified to the
effect and I believe it is in the report that I submitted to
the Court that it was possible to make a step by step im-
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plementation of this plan. I've said a number of times this
afternoon that the plan for elementary schools could be
started at once. When the School Board will find that it
does not have sufficient school buses to continue implement-
ing the plan, I’'m not positive, I presume at that point . . .
I presumed originally that at that point they would come
to the Court and say we’ve carried out half of the cluster-
ing that you ordered and now we are out of buses. It’s my
understanding that there are enough buses available to
begin the implementation of the plan. It’s not my opinion
they could do it all tomorrow.

Q. Is your answer to my question whether they could
implement the plan within the time directed by the Court
yes or not?

[401 Mr. Waggoner: I object. I don’t think this
witness could possibly know the answer.

A. It seems to me I already testified to that on several
occasions. I have said the redrawn attendance zones in
the area contiguous to the center of the city could be imple-
mented, children could be reassigned in that area, and I
have already testified to the effect that some of the pairings
could be done at once. I’m not positive that the school de-
partment has sufficient buses to do all of it. However, they
say that there are 75 buses available from the State. I don’t
know what availability those are. My estimates would indi-
cate that would come close to fulfilling the requirements.

Mr. Chambers: I have nothing further.
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By Mr. Waggoner:

Q. Dr. Finger, your first participation in this case was
as witness for the plaintiff was it not? A. Yes, that’s
right.

Q. And you came in at that time with a plan for desegre-
gation. A. Yes, that’s right.

Q. And you had two of your colleagues from Rhode
Island College who also testified on behalf of the plaintiffs.
A. Yes, that’s right.

Q. You later came back with a plan for desegregation
which involved substantial pairing of schools, did it not?
A. Yes.

[41] Q. This pairing arrangement left a large number of
black and white schools, did it not? Do you recall that you
left some all black and all white schools as a result of that
pairing arrangement? A. I believe that’s correct.

Q. And the only possibility you saw for breaking up the
all black and all white schools was fairly long-distance
busing, is this correct? A. I believe that’s correct.

Q. You were appointed by the Court and first came to
Charlotte around December 5, is this correct? A. Yes.

Q. How much time did you actually spend in Charlotte
during the period that you actually worked on devising the
court consultant plan? A. Didn’t bring my vouchers with
me but I would estimate that I was in Charlotte approxi-
mately fifteen to twenty days.

Q. And most of your time was in reviewing statistics and
reviewing maps and records of the school sytem, is this
correct? A. No, that is not correct. I spent a great deal
of time meeting with the members of the school adminis-
trative staff, consulting with them as to what would be the
best strategy to follow in developing a desegregation plan
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and in providing them with procedures to follow to draw
up a desegregation plan. When I first arrived in the school
department, the school department [42] was unable to
work on a desegregation plan because they had no authori-
zation from the Board of Education and so when I arrived
they were under Court order at that point to work with
me and so we began together to explore the various ways in
which the Court order could be met.

Q. All right. Now, with reference to your understanding
of what was required of you, what criteria did you impose
in seeking to achieve a desegregated school system in Char-
lotte? A. I believe I have defined that in my report to the
Court. I have given a definition and it’s my understanding
that that definition is more or less implied by the Court
order.

Q. Would you state the definition, please, sir? A. A
desegregated school will be defined herein as one whose
minority group enrollment does not exceed by more than
5% the proportions in all of the schools at that school level.

Q. So what this would mean is that at the elementary
level a school should not have more than 35% black. A.
That’s correct.

Q. And on the junior high approximately 33% black.
A. That’s correct.

Q. And 31% on the senior high. A. That’s corréct.

Q. It makes no difference to you if it’s 1% or 2% as long
as you do not exceed the 5% ratio, is this correct? A. I'm
not quite sure what you mean by it makes no difference.

[431 Q. Would you regard a school as desegregated if it
had 1% black provided no other elementary school had
more than 35% black? A. As I understand the order of
the Court, it did not require the elimination of all of the
all white schools. It only required the elimination of the





